

Sandy Health Centre Medical Practice

Inspection report

Sandy Health Centre Northcroft Sandy SG19 1JQ Tel: 01767682525 www.sandyhc.co.uk

Date of inspection visit: 25 November 2020 Date of publication: 12/01/2021

This report describes our judgement of the quality of care at this service. It is based on a combination of what we found when we inspected, information from our ongoing monitoring of data about services and information given to us from the provider, patients, the public and other organisations.

Ratings

| Overall rating for this location | Good | |
|--|-----------------------------|--|
| Are services safe? | Good | |
| Are services effective? | Good | |
| Are services caring? | Good | |
| Are services responsive to people's needs? | Requires Improvement | |
| Are services well-led? | Good | |

Overall summary

The service is rated as Good overall.

We carried out an announced comprehensive inspection at Sandy Health Centre Medical Practice on 3 February 2020. The overall rating for the practice was inadequate, it was placed into special measures and warning notices were issued.

The full comprehensive report of the February 2019 inspection can be found by selecting the 'all reports' link for Sandy Health Centre Medical Practice on our website at www.cqc.org.uk.

We took account of the exceptional circumstances arising as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic when considering how we carried out this inspection. We therefore undertook some of the inspection processes remotely and spent less time on site. We conducted staff interviews on 24 to 26 November and carried out a site visit on 25 November 2020.

Our judgement of the quality of care at this service is based on a combination of what we found when we inspected, information from our ongoing monitoring of data about services and information from the provider, patients, the public and other organisations.

The practice is rated as good overall.

(previously rated as inadequate in February 2020)

We rated the practice as good for providing safe service because:

- The governance around medicines management had improved and there were effective systems to manage patients with medicines that required additional monitoring.
- We found a small number of patients where the documentation regarding safety alerts lacked detail. We noted that this was regarding documentation for low risk patients.
- Medicine reviews were taking place for patients on repeat medicines however, documentation for these reviews required more detail.
- The process had appropriate recruitment systems in place and had improved oversight of advanced clinical practitioners.
- Systems to ensure Infection Prevention and Control were effective and additional safety measures had been put in place in light of the COVID-19 pandemic.

We rated the practice as good for providing effective service because:

- Hypnotic prescribing was in line with local and national averages.
- Patients with atrial fibrillation were assessed for the risk of stroke and treated appropriately.
- The practice maintained oversight of staff training needs. All staff had completed the mandatory training as determined by the practice.
- All staff had received an appraisal in the last twelve months. Staff told us these meetings were supportive and productive.

We rated the practice as good for providing caring service because:

- The National GP Patient Survey results for caring indicators were in line with local and national indicators.
- Patients told us that staff treated them with care and compassion.
- 2 Sandy Health Centre Medical Practice Inspection report 12/01/2021

Overall summary

We rated the practice as requires improvement for providing responsive service because:

- National GP Patient Survey results in relation to telephone access were significantly below local and national averages however, patients gave positive feedback regarding access during the inspection.
- The practice had a clear action plan to improve patient satisfaction in this area, including the installation of a new telephone system in the weeks following the inspection.
- These concerns affected all of the population groups and therefore they have all been rated as requires improvement.

We rated the practice as good for providing well-led service because:

- The practice maintained appropriate oversight of health and safety, infection prevention and control, medicines management and staffing.
- The practice had discussed areas of poor patient feedback and had taken actions to improve this.
- The practice had a clear business strategy to ensure practice improvement that was developed in line with staff and patient feedback.
- Staff told us there was a culture of support and they were able to raise concerns confidently.

The areas where the provider **should** make improvements are:

- Continue to improve documentation regarding safety alerts and medicine reviews.
- Continue to improve cervical screening uptake.
- Continue to complete the backlog of patient records requiring summarising.
- Continue to ensure appropriate oversight of water temperature checks to mitigate the risk of legionella.
- Continue to improve patient satisfaction in relation to telephone access.

I am taking this service out of special measures. This recognises the significant improvements that have been made to the quality of care provided by this service.

Details of our findings and the evidence supporting our ratings are set out in the evidence tables.

Dr Rosie Benneyworth BS BM BMedSci MRCGP

Chief Inspector of Primary Medical Services and Integrated Care

Population group ratings

| Older people | Requires Improvement |
|---|----------------------|
| People with long-term conditions | Requires Improvement |
| Families, children and young people | Requires Improvement |
| Working age people (including those recently retired and students) | Requires Improvement |
| People whose circumstances may make them vulnerable | Requires Improvement |
| People experiencing poor mental health (including people with dementia) | Requires Improvement |

Our inspection team

Our inspection team was led by a CQC inspector and included a GP specialist advisor.

Background to Sandy Health Centre Medical Practice

Sandy Health Centre Medical Practice provides a range of primary medical services, including minor surgical procedures, from its location at Sandy Health Centre, Northcroft, Sandy, SG19 1JQ. It is part of the NHS Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). The practice holds a General Medical Services contract (GMS), this is a nationally agreed contract with NHS England.

The practice serves a population of approximately 7,800 patients. The practice population is 95% white British.

The practice supports a local home for residents with a learning disability.

Information published by Public Health England rates the level of deprivation within the practice population group as eight on a scale of one to ten. Level one represents the highest levels of deprivation and level ten the lowest.

The clinical team consists of three GP partners (two female and one male). The practice also employs three female senior nurse practitioner / prescribers, two female practice nurses and two female healthcare assistants. The clinical team also includes a practice-based pharmacist (female) and a paramedic (female). The team is supported by a practice manager and a team of non-clinical, administrative staff.

The practice operates from a purpose-built property, that is shared with other services. There is disabled access throughout. There is a large car park outside the surgery, with disabled parking available.

Sandy Health Centre Medical Practice is open from 8am to 6pm on Monday to Friday. The practice is part of an extended access hub offering patients appointments on Saturday mornings and from 6.30pm to 8pm in the evenings. When the practice is closed, out of hours services are can be accessed via the NHS 111 service. Information about this is available in the practice and on the practice website.

The practice provides family planning, surgical procedures, maternity and midwifery services, treatment of disease, disorder or injury and diagnostic and screening procedures as their regulated activities.